1966

State of Utah, by and Through Its Road
Commission v. Charles W. Taggart, Trustee, a
Partnership, First Security Bank of Utah, a Utah
Corporation, and Zions First National Bank, a Utah
Corporation, Mortgagees : Brief of Appellant
Partnership

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

At the outset, counsel for Defendant asks the Court's indulgence for the length of this Brief. It quite exceeds the average in size. But the enormity of this case and the questions raised in this Appeal have dictated the need for added length of the Brief, at least if the issues urged are to be given their rightful attention.

The questions of fact at trial were prodigious both in number and scope. Entailed was the examination and the evaluation, under two different sets of conditions, of a tract of land in a vital urban area that was 10 city blocks long and 15 city blocks wide. It was tantamount to the trial of

two dozen or more land condemnation suits at once, involving every basic land use known excepting agriculture. In pure number of issues and land value conclusions, it is no doubt the largest condemnation suit ever tried in Utah.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a suit in condemnation brought by the Respondent Road Commission in July, 1965, to expropriate land of the Defendant-partnership for the development of sections of Interstate Highway 215 and 2100 South Expressway between 2100 South and 3100 South in Salt Lake County.

Jurisdictional questions relating to the right of the State to condemn Appellant's land, public use and necessity of the "taking," and the requirement that the project design be consistent with the greatest public good and the least private injury, were not placed in dispute, and the case proceeded to trial by jury on the amount to be paid as Just Compensation for the 78± acres condemned and for the damages accruing to the remaining properties by reason of the partial-expropriation, the highway severance and the construction of the project as contemplated.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The issues of Just Compensation were tried to a jury before the District Court of Salt Lake County in January, 1966. On January 22, the trial Court entered judgment, based on special interrogatories returned by the jury, for \$359,877.00. (R. 98-99) Defendant-landowner

filed a timely motion for additur and new trial in the alternative, and for new trial alone (R. 107-109), which motions, upon hearing, were denied by the lower Court. (R. 131) From the judgment of January 22, Defendant appeals on issues of law. (R. 133, 137, 138)

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

It is urged by Defendant in this Appeal that the judgment of the lower Court be reversed and that the case be remanded for new trial on the issues of Just Compensation.

MAP OF SUBJECT PROPERTY AND TAKING

Attached as Appendix 6 is a replica of trial Exhibit 1, representative of the prominent characteristics of the property and the freeway "taking". In general, the base plat depicts the property and its surroundings as existent in July, 1965, prior to condemnation. The total property is shown in yellow, the irregular black lines within the total tract being indicative of water and drainage courses serving the land, a power line right-of-way running north, southeast and east, and in the southeast section, an area formerly known as Decker Lake. Major roadways which served the land are colored brown.

The property condemned and the freeway alignment as it cuts through the total tract, are set out on clear plastic which overlays the base map. The non-access right-of-way lines, center line, and mushrooming interchange at the north are shown in the "taking" area.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The evidence and expert testimony on Just Compensation in the case were focused on two considerations:

1. The highest and best use and fair market value of the total property BEFORE the "taking" by the Government of the $78\pm$ acres, as of the date of service of summons, July 12, 1965;
2. The highest and best use and fair market value of the Defendant's remaining property AFTER the "taking" of the $78\pm$ acres, weighing the nature and affect of the "taking," of the severance created and of the construction and establishment of the highway project.

Consequently, this Statement will be addressed to those factors.

1. *Total Property BEFORE the "Taking"*

The property condemned by the Respondent was in July, 1965, part of a larger unified and integrated tract of $927\pm$ acres located immediately west of Redwood Road (1700 West) and extending west to about 3200 West between 2100 South and 3100 South in Salt Lake County. (Ex. 1, Tr. 255-257) At the date of value, it was owned or being purchased by the Defendant, TAGGART TRUST-EE, a partnership of businessmen and lawyers. (Tr. 55-58) The land lay as undeveloped acreage. Such condition existed not because of a lack in demand for industrial, residential and commercial uses for the property, but because the former owner, prior to 1962, had not attempted any

development, and because the present Defendant-landowner, after 1962, had been stalled in its development plans due to the imminency of the freeway project through the middle of the tract. (Tr. 49-51)

The total ownership commanded an area of 10 city blocks north to south, touching on the north the largest industrial center in Salt Lake City, and on the south, southwest and east, developed residential subdivisions. (Ex. D-1, P-11, Tr. 142, 258, 411-415) With highway frontage of 2400 feet on 2100 South Street, 2750 feet on Redwood Road and better than 2700 feet on 3100 South Street (all said frontage with full and open access) (Tr. 142, 146-147, 256, 426), with water, sewer, gas, and power immediately available on the property (overlay Ex. D-1A, Tr. 255), with zoning which permitted industrial, commercial and residential use (Ex. D-18, Tr. 147, 414), and with a genuine demand and need for immediate development of the subject property (Tr. 48, 147-153, 412-415, 257), it was the informed judgment of the three experts, C. FRANCIS SOLOMON, WERNER KIEPE, and MAXWELL LOLL, called as witnesses by Defendant-landowner that the highest and best use of the whole property, prior to condemnation, was:

the north one-third (233± acres) . . . *industrial* with direct access from 2100 South and Redwood Road;

some 40 acres having 1,600 feet of Redwood Road frontage zoned C-2 . . . a *commercial* center with direct access from Redwood Road;

the balance of $532 \pm$ acres at the center and south . .
residential with access from Redwood Road, 2100
 South and 3100 South. (Tr. 90-92, 152-154, 257-
 259, 266-268, 271-275, 425-427, 429-432)

To compliment these findings, Leon Frehner, noted land planner in Utah, testified for the Defendant as to a feasible plan for the development of the property for the three uses, and there was received in evidence a plan (Ex. D-4) showing a plausible development for the entire property. (Tr. 154, 267-268, 275, 426)

The appraisers, FLETCHER and JOHNS, for the State, were in basic agreement with the landowner's experts as to the highest and best use of the property prior to condemnation. (Tr. 623, 770-771)

The employment of the total property as an integrated unit of land, for the varied uses of industrial, commercial and housing, rested upon several conditions:

Access to Industrial . . . the industrial land in the north one-third was heavily dependent upon its direct access from 2100 South and to a lesser degree, a secondary access from Redwood Road. (Tr. 146-147, 256-257, 418) FRANCIS SOLOMON testified that proper planning of the industrial portion required the main entrance be established on 2100 South with a series of interior roads fanning out inside the property, as illustrated by the Frehner Plan. (Tr. 257, 271) Mr. KIEPE stated that the dual access from 2100 South and

Redwood gave all the industrial land the advantages of "circulation" which it did not have without the 2400 feet of 2100 South access. (Tr. 426-427)

Access to West One-half . . . the development of the west one-half of the land, industrial on the north and residential on the south, was conditioned upon access being maintained from 2100 South and Redwood Road (Ex. D-4), since traffic movement and buying interests going to and from the property would be from the north and east. (Tr. 177, 258, 466) There were no public streets on the west boundary of the land nor did defendant have access to a street system from its west side so that if access from the west sections to 2100 South and Redwood Road were cut-off or obstructed, the remaining access to those sections would be only by way of 3100 South, an inferior county road. (Tr. 178, 179, 467)

Drainage of Decker Lake . . . the pond, covering about 180 acres, had acted as a shallow basin for portions of the subject property and lands west as tail water drained to the Jordan River. (Tr. 73, 74) Although not more than a foot in depth (Tr. 75), its existence presented a definite problem in development of the 500 plus acres on the southeast for residential use. ALTON J. SORENSON of Caldwell, Richards and Sorenson, engineers, testified that since the bottom of the lake was three to five feet above the surface elevation of the

Jordan River, the lake was susceptible to being drained and filled for residential use. (Tr. 78-84) Fill material was available on the property west of the lake and east of the power line right-of-way which could have been graded and compacted in the pond area. (Tr. 89-91) Although the cost of draining and filling the lake was estimated as substantial, it was feasible, from both engineering and economic standpoints, before the "taking," because the total 500 acres developed under one ownership and as a unit, was large enough to absorb the costs as a part of general land preparation expenses. (Tr. 88, 145-146, 279, 424-425)

The stage was thus set on the property at the time the State filed its condemnation complaint.

2. *Nature and Design of "Taking"*

The 78 acre acquisition courses the full breadth of the property from north to south cutting through the middle of the industrial and residential land (Ex. 1, Tr. 15, 466-468, 473), with the result that the remaining property is literally broken in two pieces. (Tr. 180, 466-468, 473, 474) The freeway right-of-way lines, throughout, are designated as "non-access." (See Appx. 6) The dual effects of this "non-access" design are not only that the Defendant is prohibited from access to the freeway from its remaining lands at all points along the "taking",¹ but also that there

¹The only access which the Defendant-landowners have or will have to I-215 upon its completion is that which it will share with others in common as members of the general public. (Tr. 13, 14, 16)

is no means or way afforded to the Defendant to cross the freeway from one side of its remaining property to the other. (Tr. 16) The blocking of east-west travel on the property is complete under the freeway design for there is no interchange or grade separation device permitting access from west to east within the property for a distance of 8000 feet. (Tr. 15)

The 2400 feet of frontage of and access to the Defendant's land on 2100 South Street is taken in its entirety. (Tr. 13, 177, Ex. D-1C)

The width of the freeway "taking" averages 260 feet through the south, center and north center of the property (Tr. 8), but increases to a final width of 2400 feet at the north end. (Tr. 9, Ex. D-1)

As finally constructed, the traveled portions of the freeway will be elevated on an 8 foot dirt fill, on an average, (Tr. 18) with the height of the dirt fill gradually increasing on a 2% grade at both the north and south ends of the property to an elevation between 22 and 35 feet in order that the freeway may pass over 2100 South and 3100 South Streets. (Tr. 7, 18, 19)

3. *Remaining Property AFTER the "Taking"*

By reason of the "taking" and the design of the highway project across subject property, the land left to this Defendant after condemnation was subject to a set of new conditions which did not previously exist. In determining the highest and best use and fair market value of the property remaining after the "taking", the expert witnesses

called by the landowner, testified that the buyer and seller in the open market would take stock of the following factors:

- (a) After the "taking", the remnant property consisted of two separated pieces, isolated from each other. (Tr. 184, 186-188, 319, 473-77) Whereas before the expropriation, the buyer in the market had the advantage of developing one unit of ground for its highest use with the costs of such spread over the whole property, the severed tracts after the "taking" were each on its own to develop without the aid of the other or of the whole. (Tr. 186-88, 473-77) From one unified tract of ground, the highway had created two unhomogenous remainders. (Tr. 177-186, 310-20, 465-80)
- (b) Gone were the advantages of the control of access to and through the total property, gone was the flexibility in the manner and variations of development, gone was the beneficial influence which development of the east portion of the ground would have on the west part, and gone was the plottage, the uniform shape, and the access characteristics which the property formerly possessed. (Tr. 176-186, 314-320, 465-479) WERNER KIEPE was of the opinion that the "taking" through the middle of the total property produced a cutting effect that, in a general way, innured to the detriment of practically all the remainder land. (Tr. 467)

- (c) For a span of 10 city blocks, the freeway was to be constructed over Defendant's land without a single crossing point or underpass. (Tr. 15, 16) Prior to condemnation, the crossing from the east to the west parts of the land, or vice-versa, involved the travel of but a few steps. (Ex. D-1) To reach the same place after condemnation from a point on the opposite side of the freeway, travel exceeding 10,000 feet or 16 city blocks was required down the length of the property south to 3100 South Street, along that street underneath the freeway overpass, and back again the length of the land. (Tr. 15-17)
- (d) *Industrial Land Remaining East of Freeway.* All access to this property (72.6 acres) from 2100 South Street was lost as a consequence of the "taking". (Tr. 13, 177, 466, D-1C) Mr. SOLOMON testified that said property was reduced to reliance on Redwood Road for its access, which street had not theretofore generated industrial influence south of 2100 South. (Tr. 312, 344) It had also been deprived of its probable potential development as part of the larger industrial tract according to Solomon. (Ex. D-4, Tr. 344-345) Now situated in a pocket next to the freeway, it would be dependent for development from the east instead of from the industrial area of the north. (Tr. 188, 466, 311-312)

(e) *Industrial Land Remaining West of Freeway.* The loss of access to the industrial land on the east of the freeway was also occasioned to the 122± acres of industrial land on the west. Ingress and egress to that land after condemnation, had to come from a pole line road (a dead-end dirt road, the public nature of which was highly questioned), or from 3100 South Street (some 7 to 8 city blocks away). (Tr. 177-79, 313, 467, 468) SOLOMON concluded that the loss of reasonable access, the increased expenses in utility development and a delay in time in which the property would have otherwise developed, all but “disrupted” the former industrial use concept of this remainder. (Tr. 312-315) Additionally, available materials needed to fill low spots on such property had been “taken” or isolated by the freeway. (Tr. 314) KIEPE described the 52 acres in the pocket between the freeway and the power line on the west as being “shut-off” from access and development until the Defendant bought land to the north to reestablish a connection with frontage on 2100 South. (Tr. 467)

(f) *Commercial Acreage East of Freeway.* A penetrating analysis of the commercial land fronting on Redwood Road was made by WERNER KIEPE. He investigated more comparable commercial sales data than all other expert witnesses for both sides, combined. (Tr. 447-457, 640, 782) The commercial value accorded to this 39.8 acres by KIEPE prior to the “taking” was premised on

the fact that this parcel was “an ideal location for a shopping center”, to serve the interior residential land of Defendant as well as residential areas, generally, to the south and west. (Tr. 429, 471, 472) After the “taking” and construction of the freeway, the accessibility to the commercial area from lands west of the Belt Route, including that remaining to Defendant, is “completely shut off except by a long circuitous road” with the end result that the shopping center would “lose most of its potential buyers” from that area. (Tr. 472, 473)

- (g) *Residential Land East of Freeway.* The circumstances visited on this remainder (constituting some 209 acres) were described by Messrs. SOLOMON and KIEPE. SOLOMON stated that because the Belt Route was not planned for construction until 1968, the development of this land would be delayed, which delay, expressed in loss of return on the investment to the buyer, would have a depreciating affect to a 300 foot strip, or about 45 acres of land paralleling the freeway. (Tr. 316, 317) Furthermore, because of the proximity to noises, vibrations and odors from freeway traffic, it would be necessary to add an additional 50 feet to the depth of residential plottage.²

²The witness, Solomon, stated and the testimony in the case is undisputed that a 50 foot corridor reservation next to a non-access freeway is standard practice by landowners in the development of residential land. (Tr. 318) Such a corridor reservation was only made necessary by the “taking” and construction of the freeway through Defendant’s land. (Tr. 315, L. 28-30)

(Tr. 315-318) Mr. KIEPE was determined to the same judgment, i.e., that the residential land immediately next to the freeway will require additional depth in lot development and is less desirable in the market place by reason of that fact, after condemnation. (Tr. 478, 479) KIEPE also found that home site acreage east of the freeway had also lost materials for grading, filling of Decker Pond, and contouring, which materials were in the "taking" or segregated to the west by the "taking". (Tr. 477)

- (h) *Residential Land West of Freeway.* The factors of proximity to the freeway and the requirements of added depth appurtenant to the residential land east, was as well extant on the west of the "taking". (Ex. D-9 Solomon, D-10 Kiepe, Tr. 317, 476-479) Several other depreciating factors were also present. A strip of land, approximating 26 acres, was caught between the west non-access line and the east edge of the power line right-of-way. (See Appx. 6, Ex. D-1) Prior to condemnation, the 26 acres was part of the integrated west-center section of the total tract. After condemnation, it is left as an isolated tract. Beginning on the north at a perpendicular tangent to Highway Station 458±, this severed strip gradually narrows in width until reaching a point tangent to Station 420-415, it is only a few feet

wide. (Tr. 318-319) SOLOMON and KIEPE described the pinched sections as "almost useless" and damaged to the point that "it practically loses its value". (Tr. 318, 476) As in other areas, neither witness, FLETCHER or JOHNS, for the State found any severance damage whatsoever, to this 26 acre area. (Ex. P-12, P-14) The residential land west of the freeway (about 146 acres) is, because of the "taking", physically and circumstantially divorced from its former environment and access to and from the east. Loll said that because of condemnation, such property had lost its "doorway" to the east for development of utilities and access. (Tr. 184) FRANCIS SOLOMON concluded that the acreage, having lost its east-west access, had sustained a set back in the time of development amounting to 6.67% of the former property value. Mr. Kiepe summed up the matter:

"A. We now have a definite division. Formerly, we had nearly 500 acres which was in one plot, which could be developed and it meant a uniformity of planning of roads and so forth which could be — which would allow for a much better development. Now, this part will have to be developed separately. That is the west part will have to be developed separately from the east part. There can not be any continuity there." (Tr. 474-475)

- (i) *Sewer and Water.* In the development of the separated tracts west and east of the freeway after

condemnation, the costs of installing sewer and water underneath the highway right-of-way is measurably increased as against the expense incident to development of the integrated property before the "taking". (Tr. 94-96)

Each of the witnesses, SOLOMON, KIEPE, and LOLL, called by Defendant, translated the foregoing factors (a) through (i) into that price which the willing buyer would pay the willing seller for the remainder property after condemnation. (Ex. D-6, D-9, D-10) Expressed in *severance damage* and *apart from the value of the "taking"*, they individually concluded that the buyer will pay less to the seller for the remaining property after condemnation than would have been paid for the same property *before* condemnation, as follows:

Solomon	\$251,711.00
Kiepe	\$309,120.00
Loll	\$315,415.00

4. *Land Value Witnesses for the State.* The condemnor's first witness, R. S. FLETCHER, gave testimony that there was absolutely no severance damage to the remaining property as a result of the "taking" and the construction of the non-access freeway through the Defendant's property. (Ex. P-14, Tr. 666) On cross-examination, he admitted:

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