1967

State of Utah, by and Through Its Road
Commission v. Charles W. Taggart, Trustee, a
Partnership, First Security Bank of Utah, a Utah
Corporation, and Zions First National Bank, a Utah
Corporation, Mortgagees : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

While an award which is below the lowest valuation evidence or above the highest valuation would require a close look at the evidence to determine whether there was passion, bias or prejudice or a misunderstanding of the law or facts presented, it is the latter and not the former, standing by itself,

which would warrant a trial court or this court on appeal to grant a new trial.

This case is a classical example of the great divergence which can exist among the opinions of the experts where the real issue is the somewhat evasive element of severance damages. It is based entirely on the opinion of the experts and depending upon how they look at it they can vary as here from zero to \$315,415.00. In determining the value of the lands taken the experts can at least use comparable sales as a guide line. But not so with severance damage. And so that is all the more reason why the jury is better adapted to decide it.

Looking to the jury's award in this case of \$359,877.00 we find that it is \$27,757.00 above plaintiff's highest valuation witness Fletcher and \$200,123.00 below defendant's lowest valuation witness Solomon. Needless to say it is clearly within the range of the evidence. Looking further at the breakdown of the total award the amount of \$318,301.00 for the value of the land taken is \$10,012.00 above defendant's own witness Solomon's final valuation. Likewise the award of \$41,576.00 in severance damages is \$41,576.00 higher than plaintiff's lowest valuation witness on severance damages, Fletcher, who found none; \$23,975.00 more than plaintiff's highest valuation witness on severance damages, Johns; and is \$210,135.00 lower than defendant's lowest valuation witness on severance damages, Solomon. Again the award for severance damages

is clearly within the range of the evidence. That being so, how can it be said that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to grant defendant a new trial? Accordingly, the trial court did not err, and its order denying defendant a new trial must be affirmed by this court.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN LIMITING CROSS EXAMINATION OF THE WITNESS JOHNS ON HIS PRIOR APPRAISAL OF THE CONDAS PROPERTY

At the outset it should be noted that the Point here raised by defendant was presented to the trial court in defendant's Motion For New Trial (paragraph 3(a), R. 108). After a full hearing thereon both parties submitted Briefs to the trial court in support of their respective positions (R. 110-130 incl.). Thereupon the trial court denied defendant's Motion For New Trial (R. 131).

It should also be noted that the question was asked late on the last day of trial at approximately 5:30 p.m., after the court advised the jury that we would finish the evidence that day and on that basis left to the jury as to whether they wanted to come back the next day, on Saturday, rather than the following Monday (Tr. 817-819).

Throughout defendant's argument it assumes that sufficient similarity existed between the Condas property and the subject property to warrant the

inquiry in this case into the prior appraisal of the witness Johns of the Condas property. The fact is that a foundation had not been laid for this inquiry. The only foundation laid was that the Condas property was in the county, had "M-1" zoning, had access to 2100 South and to Redwood Road (Tr. 828), probably abutted upon the Gedge tract and was in the same proximity of the subject "M-2" property (Tr. 842-843). However, no foundation was laid to show *when* the witness Johns appraised the Condas property, its size or shape, whether it was improved or unimproved with buildings, roadways, hard surfaced and the like, whether it was level or undulating, filled or unfilled, drained or undrained, etc. or whether it fronted on 2100 South Street or on Redwood Road in whole or in part. In fact the Condas property cornered in the southwest intersection of Redwood Road at 2100 South Street, which in itself made it dissimilar to any of the subject property.

What is even more revealing is the manner in which the question was asked (Tr. 843):

"(BY MR. CAMPBELL) Q. You recall the — you testified the fair market value of \$10,000 —

"MR. NOVAK: Objection, your Honor.

"MR. CAMPBELL: I have the right, I think, to state my question — that you appraised that Condas piece for the landowner for \$10,000 an acre?"

Defendant's counsel was determined to, and he did get before the jury the figure of \$10,000.00 per acre. What is more, defendant argues here that the whole purpose of the inquiry was to test the credibility of the witness Johns. However, the inquiry as made had the dual effect of also tending to establish the value of the subject property and if permitted to stand could well have had that result. Thus no inquiry was made to show that in the opinion of the witness Johns the value of the Condas property and any part of the subject property was comparable as a foundation to show prior inconsistent statements or opinions. Nor did defendant's counsel state to the court that such was his purpose so the jury could be instructed accordingly.

Thereupon, after a conference with counsel at the bench, the trial court sustained the objection and instructed the jury to disregard the question and answer (Tr. 843-844). In the trial court's explanation to the jury it was clear that the trial court had carefully considered defendant's right to cross examine but was of the judgment that its value was outweighed by the risks involved in introducing other issues which we did not have time to resolve in this case. The dual aspects of the inquiry made it a collateral matter, and to permit it would have required time consuming re-direct examination to explain all factors that went into Johns' prior appraisal of the Condas property, which in effect would be to re-try the Condas case and the factors there involved.

Defendant's suggestion on pages 40 and 41 of Appellant's Brief that the trial court understood the question to ask for the "price" paid the abutting owner by the State is wholly distorted and unfounded. The price of the adjoining property referred to was the figure of \$10,000.00 per acre in counsel's question which the jury heard.

As noted on page 43 of Appellant's Brief, *Nichols On Eminent Domain*, Volume 5, page 274, Section 18.45(2) (supplement) states that on cross examination an expert may be questioned as to his appraisals of other property in the area which he has made, *but only if a foundation has been laid for comparison of the different tracts appraised*. And as noted above a proper foundation had not been laid here.

The case of *State v. Christensen*, 13 Utah (2d) 224, 371 Pac. (2d) 552 (1960) appears to be the closest Utah case to the case at hand. While the first two questions set forth on page 228 of the Utah Reports were directed to what the State paid the owner of adjoining land for proximity and severance damages and were sustained by the trial court, the questions were then asked as to whether the witness had appraised the adjoining property for the State. When asked, "What was your appraisal to the property on the west?" an objection thereto was again sustained. And then when asked if there was any severance damage to the property on the west an objection thereto was sustained. In passing on

the propriety of those questions and after noting that cross examination is admissible to test the good faith, knowledge, credibility and the like of a witness this court stated on page 229 of the Utah Reports as follows:

“ . . . The answers to the questions above quoted, especially the first one, would not have been admissible in evidence even under cross-examination; and although the witness did not know or was not allowed to give the answers, the questions were improper . . . ”

We do not quarrel with defendant's notion of the above case that the first and last questions were clearly improper. However, neither can defendant quarrel with the holding of this court that it was improper to ask the witness what was his appraisal of the adjoining property.

The same argument can be made that such inquiry goes only to test the credibility of the witness, as defendant argues here. But it is the dual aspect of the question which creates the problem and where, as here, the necessary foundation has not been laid to put it in the light of attacking the credibility of the witness more harm than good can come of it and it becomes a collateral matter which is and should be within the discretion of the trial court to limit. Thus in *Nihcols On Eminent Domain*, Volume 5, Section 18.45(2), pages 277-278 it is stated:

“ . . . The extent to which cross-examination will be permitted is largely in the discretion of the trial court, and the rulings

of the court upon this point are not subject to exception unless wholly arbitrary and unreasonable. The extent of the examination need not be extended to permit interrogation about collateral, immaterial or irrelevant matters.”

Here the trial court sustained the objection to the question after a conference at the bench with counsel and after carefully weighing defendant's right of cross examination, evidenced by his explanation to the jury. And it should be noted that defendant did not move for a mistrial or press its claim of prejudicial error until after the verdict was returned.

The trial court again carefully reconsidered the matter on defendant's Motion For New Trial and after a full hearing and considering the Briefs submitted by the respective parties was clearly of the opinion that defendant was not prejudiced thereby in denying defendant's Motion For New Trial. This puts us squarely within the holding of *State v. Christensen*, supra, where on page 229 it is stated:

“ . . . The trial court by denying a motion for a new trial clearly indicated that he considered that the State was not prejudiced by these questions. As previously pointed out, the State did not move for a mistrial or press its claim of prejudicial error until after the verdict was returned. We overrule the trial court's decision on a motion for a new trial only if we find an abuse of its discretion . . . ”

Citing *Wellman v. Noble*, 12 Utah (2d) Utah 350, 366 Pac. (2d) 701.

On page 43 of Appellant's Brief defendant cites the case of *Bingaman v. City of Seattle*, 139 Wash. 68, 245 Pac. 411 (9126) as clear authority supporting defendant's position, and in so doing states that the Washington court found prejudicial error in the refusal to permit cross examination in a condemnation suit on a prior inconsistent opinion given by the expert witness on the value of neighboring land. Defendant then quotes at length from that case. A careful reading of that case reveals that the quoted material was dictum. The Washington court reversed because of inadequacy of the award of \$1.00 nominal damages and remanded, ordering that judgment be entered for plaintiff in the amount of \$1,000.00, *being the lowest estimate of the City's witness*, or, if refused, a new trial.

In *Basch v. Iowa Power And Light Co.*, 95 N.W. (2d) 714 (Iowa 1959) cited on page 45 of Appellant's Brief, the three questions referred to related to (1) the prior statement of the opinion of the witness of a proper formula for determining the value of the powerline easement on the subject property; (2) whether payment to him for the same easement on his adjacent lands on the basis of the same formula was fair and (3) whether the same formula was used as the basis for his executing the easement. Needless to say, an entirely different situation there than here.

Likewise the facts in *People v. Murata*, 326 Pac. (2d) 947 (Cal. 1958) cited on page 46 of Ap-

pellant's Brief are entirely different than here. There the witness had given his opinion of value of the *same* lands there being condemned in a prior flood damage suit. Thus all three cases cited and relied upon by defendant are simply not applicable to the situation here.

Defendant argues that the alleged prejudice flows from the fact that the witness Johns' opinion of the "before" value was substantially less than the opinions of the other witnesses which changed the entire atmosphere of the trial and defendant was prevented from showing that Johns was grossly misinformed, or he was a fraud or an advocate or a combination of all three. Defendant's argument points up the intended dual purpose of the question, i.e. not necessarily to test credibility but to show that the "before" value of the subject property was more than what Johns appraised it at. Whether the question asked was all important is subject to great debate. And to say we don't know the answer when the answer obviously was couched in the question for the jury to hear is being somewhat naive. Likewise, the probability that the answer would have dealt a devastating blow to the credibility of Johns' opinion is moot considering the form of the question.

To say that this was the pivotal point of the trial is nonsense. This occurred within the last hour of the evidence. If there was such a point it occurred many days earlier when defendant's witness

Solomon dropped the ball and when defendant's witness Kiepe failed to level with the jury.

We submit that it was within the discretion of the trial court to limit the inquiry. This the trial court wisely did, and after reconsideration concluded that defendant was not prejudiced thereby. Defendant's argument falls far short of showing any abuse of discretion, and that being so the judgment of the trial court denying defendant's Motion For New Trial must be affirmed. *State v. Christensen*, 13 Utah (2d) 224, 371 Pac. (2d) 552 (1962).

POINT III.

THE ISSUE OF SPECIAL BENEFITS WAS PROPERLY SUBMITTED TO THE JURY

The witness Johns stated that in his opinion a total of 46.23 acres of defendant's remaining lands surrounding the proposed interchange would be specially benefited by reason of the construction of the Belt Route and interchange facility (Tr. 814-815). The only objections made by defendant went to general benefits, which were properly sustained, and no objection was made when the witness confined his opinion to special benefits (Tr. 815). He gave as the reason for such special benefits the interchange of the two major traffic arterials which gave the benefited property what he found generally to be considered by the market as desirable location and that such relationship indicated to him an additional value of twenty-five percent (Tr.

816). He took into consideration studies which he made in other areas of land similarly situated with respect to interchange facilities which had been constructed (Tr. 816). He used two sales in formulating his opinions on special benefits (Tr. 862) and took into consideration one sale of a property similarly situated which sold after that interchange had been completed (Tr. 866-867).

In Mr. Johns' opinion the special benefits amounted to \$575.00 per acre for the 46.32 acres specially benefited (Tr. 815; Exh. P-15-A) for a total of \$26,582.00 in special benefits (Tr. 816). He subtracted that amount from his opinion of the gross damage of \$44,183.00 for a net damage in his opinion of \$17,601.00 (Tr. 815-816; Exh. 12).

Even defendant's witness Solomon was of the opinion that the remaining property of defendant would have added visibility, at least in part by reason of the interchange connecting the Belt Route with the 2100 South Expressway; that this added visibility would confer a special benefit on defendant's remaining property (Tr. 366); and all of which he took into consideration in arriving at his opinion of the "after" value of the defendant's remaining property (Tr. 367). In view thereof defendant should not be heard to complain about lack of special benefits.

As to defendant's argument that it was prevented in the cross examination of the witness Johns from inquiring into the nature of the special bene-

fits, we submit that the questions asked were directed to loss of traffic flow on Redwood Road (Tr. 864). The trial court properly sustained the objection since the direct implication was a damage to defendant's remaining property resulting from taking traffic off Redwood Road and putting it on the freeway. Defendant concedes on page 51 of Appellant's Brief that it has no right to the flow of traffic. To say the question was directed solely to impeachment of the witness John's opinion on special benefits is simply to obscure that aspect and the harm which could result therefrom. In any event, defendant's argument is moot because the jury was specifically instructed that it could not consider the traffic flowing by defendant's remaining property on the new highway system after the taking as adding a special benefit (Instruction No. 21; R. 44).

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